# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-23-2009

# Baxter v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 36299

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the district court's order summarily dismissing in part Joseph Baxter's petition for post-conviction relief without an evidentiary hearing and denying the remainder of Mr. Baxter's petition for post-conviction relief following an evidentiary hearing.

### B. General Course of Proceedings

## 1. Underlying criminal proceedings

On August 31, 2005, while serving time in the Twin Falls Criminal Justice Facility, Mr. Baxter was charged by Complaint with injuring jails in violation of Idaho Code § 18-7018 and a persistent violator enhancement pursuant to Idaho Code § 19-2514. Case No. 32668, R. 7-8. These charges arose following an incident in which Mr. Baxter removed a telephone from the wall in his jail cell. Subsequently, on December 6, 2005, a one day jury trial was held and Mr. Baxter was found guilty of both injuring jails and the persistent violator enhancement. Case No. 32668, R. 40-41. On December 15, 2005, the district court sentenced Mr. Baxter to a unified term of six years, with one year determinate, to be served consecutively to the sentence Mr. Baxter was serving at the time these charges arose. Case No. 32668, R. 43-48. Mr. Baxter appealed his sentence but the Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment of conviction and sentence in an unpublished opinion. *State v. Joseph Jackson Baxter*, Docket No. 32668 (filed January 3, 2007) (unpublished opinion).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Baxter has filed a Motion for Judicial Notice contemporaneously herewith asking this Court to take judicial notice of the files, records, and transcripts in *State v. Joseph Jackson Baxter*, Docket No. 32668.

## 2. Post-Conviction Proceedings

On March 11, 2008, Mr. Baxter filed a petition and affidavit for post-conviction relief alleging, among other things; that Idaho Code § 18-7018 is unconstitutional, that his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to argue that he did not injure the jail, and that appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to raise any issue other than imposition of an excessive sentence. R. 9-59. Upon request, Mr. Baxter was then appointed post-conviction counsel. R. 64. The State filed an answer to Mr. Baxter's petition for post-conviction relief and a motion for summary dismissal responding to most of Mr. Baxter's claims for relief. R. 65-87. The following day the district court filed a notice of intent to dismiss within twenty days. R. 88-92. The notice specifically stated that "[t]his Court adopts the State's briefing as its Findings and Conclusions in this case" and advised Mr. Baxter that "the Petition for Post Conviction Relief shall be dismissed with prejudice for the reasons set forth in the State's brief" unless Mr. Baxter responds accordingly. (Emphasis in original.) R. 90.

With the assistance of appointed counsel, Mr. Baxter submitted a response brief and supporting affidavit arguing, *inter alia*, that Mr. Baxter received ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel because the injured telephone was not owned by the jail. R. 93-100. The district court then issued an order summarily dismissing the majority of Mr. Baxter's claims for relief and granting an evidentiary hearing upon the issues of whether the jail owned the phone and whether trial and appellate counsel were ineffective for failing to argue that Mr. Baxter's actions did not fall within the injuring jails statute. R. 101-03. In its order summarily dismissing most of Mr. Baxter's claims, the district court articulated specific reasons some claims for relief were dismissed and then stated "[t]he balance of Plaintiff's claims for relief, except [those to be

addressed at the evidentiary hearing] are dismissed with prejudice for the reason that they are either duplicative of other issues in this case, are not supported by assertions of admissible evidence, are procedurally defaulted because not raised on direct appeal, or because they represent mere conclusory assertions not supported by the record or other evidence." R. 102.

An evidentiary hearing was then held on February 3, 2009. Evidentiary Hearing Transcript ("EH Tr.") p.4. The only two witnesses called at the evidentiary hearing were those called by the Petitioner; Mr. Ken Jackman, Operations Director for FSH Communications, LLC, and Mr. Baxter himself. *See generally*, EH TR. Mr. Jackman, who did not testify at Mr. Baxter's trial, testified that the phone at issue was owned by FSH Communications but that the Twin Falls County Jail was billed \$325.67 for the cost of replacing the damaged phone. EH Tr. p.7, lns. 14-15 & Petitioner's Ex. 1. Mr. Baxter then testified that he did damage the phone but did not injure the wall of his jail cell. EH Tr. p.13, lns. 19-24.

The district court subsequently denied Mr. Baxter's remaining claims for relief in a written order. R. 105-13. Mr. Baxter then filed a motion for reconsideration along with a supporting affidavit, arguing that the Twin Falls County Jail still had not paid FSH Communications for the repairs for the phone and therefore the district court's findings were in error and should be vacated. R. 114-20. The district court amended its prior factual findings but ultimately denied Mr. Baxter's motion for reconsideration. R. 135-37. Mr. Boylan timely appealed. R. 121-124.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

A. Did the district court err when it summarily dismissed Mr. Baxter's claim that Idaho Code § 18-7018 is unconstitutional because it did so on grounds different from those previously

asserted by the district court and the State?

- B. Did the district court err when it concluded Mr. Baxter received effective assistance of trial counsel even though it was objectively unreasonable that trial counsel failed to argue the jail had not been injured?
- C. Did the district court err when it concluded Mr. Baxter received effective assistance of counsel on direct appeal even though it was objectively unreasonable that appellate counsel failed to not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence?

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Erred in Summarily Dismissing Mr. Baxter's Claim Alleging that Idaho Code § 18-7018 was Unconstitutional on Grounds Different from Those Previously Asserted by the State or Adopted by the District Court.

A petition for post-conviction relief initiates a civil proceeding in which the petitioner is required to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. *McKeeth v. State*, 140 Idaho 847, 849, 103 P.3d 460, 462 (2004); *Loveland v. State*, 141 Idaho 933, 935, 120 P.3d 751, 753 (Ct. App. 2005). Once filed, either party or even the court *sua sponte* is permitted to seek summary disposition of the petition. Summary dismissal is authorized under Idaho Code § 19-4906 and is the procedural equivalent of summary judgment under I.R.C.P. 56. Specifically, sections (b) and (c) of Idaho Code § 19-4906 provide in pertinent part:

- (b) When a court is satisfied, on the basis of the application, the answer or motion, and the record, that the applicant is not entitled to post-conviction relief and no purpose would be served by any further proceedings, it may indicate to the parties its intention to dismiss the application and its reasons for so doing. The applicant shall be given an opportunity to reply within 20 days to the proposed dismissal. . .
- (c) The court may grant a motion by either party for summary disposition of the application when it appears from the pleadings, depositions, answers to

interrogatories, and admissions and agreements of fact, together with any affidavits submitted, that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

The reason for the 20 day notice requirement in subsection (b) is so that the petitioner will have an opportunity to respond to the court's concerns. *Sua sponte* dismissals without the 20 day notice are not allowed. *Saykhamchone v. State*, 127 Idaho 319, 900 P.2d 795 (1995). Further, when summary dismissal is sought by the state, the state is required to provide notice in its motion of the specific grounds therefore. *Id*.

In Saykhamchone, the state filed an answer to a petition for post-conviction relief and in the answer's prayer for relief asked the court to dismiss without further hearings. The Supreme Court held this document was not sufficient to give Saykhamchone notice of the grounds upon which dismissal was being sought. The Supreme Court stated that "at a minimum the state's prayer for relief in the Answer was deficient for not stating its grounds with particularity, and for not stating that it was the state's motion for summary disposition under I.C. § 19-4906(c)." Saykhamchone, 127 Idaho at 322, 900 P.2d at 798 (emphasis in original). Therefore, summary dismissal without 20 days notice from the district court as to the reasons for dismissal was error.

Similarly, "if the State moves to dismiss a petition under Idaho Code § 19-4906(c), the court cannot dismiss a claim on a ground not asserted by the State in its motion unless the court gives the twenty-day notice required by Section 19-4906(b)." *DeRushe v. State*, 146 Idaho 599, 602, 200 P.3d 1148, 1151 (2009) (citing *Saykhamchone*, 127 Idaho at 322, 900 P.2d at 798). However if a "district court summarily dismisses a post-conviction application relying in part on the same grounds presented by the state in its motion for summary dismissal, the notice requirement has been met." *Buss v. State*, 147 Idaho 514, 517, 211 P.3d 123, 126 (Ct. App.

2009) (citing *Workman v. State*, 144 Idaho 518, 524, 164 P.3d 798, 804 (2007)). In order for the state's motion for summary dismissal to sufficiently satisfy the notice requirement under these circumstances the "overlap between the reasoning in the district court's decision and the state's motion to dismiss must be substantial." *Id*.

In this case, the State moved for summary disposition. R. 70-87. The district court then adopted the State's briefing as its findings and conclusions, thereby giving Mr. Baxter twenty days notice based upon the reasons set forth by the State. However, the district court then summarily dismissed Mr. Baxter's claim that Idaho Code § 18-7018 is unconstitutional on grounds that were not raised by the State. As a result, the state's motion and the district court's notice of intent to dismiss did not meet the requirements prescribed in *Saykhamchone*, *DeRushe*, and *Buss*.

In his *pro se* brief Mr. Baxter unequivocally stated that "ISSUE TWO" included whether "the statute the petitioner convicted [sic] under Unconstitutional?" Brief in Support, p.4. R. 18. Though not grammatically perfect, Mr. Baxter nevertheless set forth a claim for relief premised upon the unconstitutionality of the statute for which he was found guilty. Mr. Baxter then set forth his reasoning in support of this claim. Brief in Support, p.11. R. 25.

In response to Mr. Baxter's argument, the State combined Mr. Baxter's constitutional argument with another claim for relief and asserted:

In allegations four and five, the defendant asserts I.C. § 18-7018 is unconstitutionally "broad;" and therefore, "the District Court lacked jurisdiction to put the petitioner on trial, and sentence him, and charge him with a felony [because the case should] have been tried as a misdemeanor." The defendant merely asserts his allegations in a conclusory fashion. The defendant has failed to sustain his burden of providing affidavits, records, or other evidence supporting these allegations. Therefore, the defendant's allegations in number four and five

must be summarily dismissed.

Motion for Summary Disposition, p.8. (Internal citations omitted.) R. 77. Then, as noted above, the district court issued its notice of intent to dismiss, stating "[t]his Court adopts the State's briefing as its Findings and Conclusions in this case" and therefore "the Petition for Post Conviction Relief shall be dismissed with prejudice *for the reasons set forth in the State's brief*.

." Notice of Intent to Dismiss Post Conviction Petition, p.3. R. 90.

In response to the district court's notice of intent to dismiss, Mr. Baxter filed a Response Brief. Mr. Baxter did not specifically respond to the State's argument that his constitutional challenge to the statute at issue was conclusory. Nevertheless, the district court summarily dismissed Mr. Baxter's constitutional argument on grounds not previously asserted by the State or adopted by the district court. Instead the district court reasoned, "Plaintiff's claims for relief relating to the unconstitutionality of the statute are dismissed with prejudice for the reason that this issue should have been raised on direct appeal." Order Dismissing Portion of Petition and Directing Hearing, p.2. R. 102. This *sua sponte* dismissal without prior notice was in error.

Because proper notice was not given, the order summarily dismissing Mr. Baxter's claim that Idaho Code § 18-7018 is unconstitutional should be reversed and the matter remanded for further proceedings on those issues.

B. The District Court Erred in Finding that Trial Counsel Did not Provide Ineffective Assistance of Counsel by Failing to Argue that Mr. Baxter Did Not Injure the Jail.

In his *pro se* petition for post-conviction relief Mr. Baxter alleged that his trial counsel was ineffective in multiple respects. One of those allegations, which was clarified in his response to the district court's notice of intent to dismiss, was that trial counsel failed to

Twin Falls County Jail. Presumably based upon Mr. Baxter's response brief and supporting affidavit, the district court granted an evidentiary hearing on whether Mr. Baxter "received ineffective assistance of both trial and appellate counsel relating to his assertions that the damaged telephone is not owned by the jail, and hence not within the proscription of the statute under which he was convicted." Order Dismissing Portion of Petition and Directing Hearing, p.2. R. 102. The district court continued, stating it was "limiting the evidentiary hearing to issues involving ownership of the phone and whether or not counsel properly argued that the conduct of Mr. Baxter fell within the Statute under which he was convicted." Order Dismissing Portion of Petition and Directing Hearing, p.3. R. 103. As noted above, an evidentiary hearing was held and the district court thereafter denied Mr. Baxter's remaining claims for relief.

When reviewing a decision denying post-conviction relief after an evidentiary hearing, the appellate court will not uphold the lower court's factual findings if they are clearly erroneous. *McKeeth v. State*, 140 Idaho 847, 849, 103 P.3d 460, 462 (2004); *Loveland v. State*, 141 Idaho 933, 936, 120 P.3d 751, 754 (Ct. App. 2005). Nonetheless, the appellate court exercises free review of the district court's application of the relevant law to the facts. *McKeeth*, 140 Idaho at 849, 103 P.3d at 46; *Loveland*, 141 Idaho at 936, 120 P.3d at 754.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel may properly be brought under the post-conviction procedure act. *Martinez v. State*, 143 Idaho 789, 795, 152 P.3d 1237, 1243 (Ct. App. 2007); *Murray v. State*, 121 Idaho 918, 924-25, 828 P.2d 1323, 1329-30 (Ct. App. 1992). A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel will prevail if he shows that (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and that (2) counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the

defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). A defendant meets the deficiency prong when counsel's performance falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Mitchell v. State*, 132 Idaho 274, 277, 971 P.2d 727, 730 (1998). The prejudice prong is met when the defendant shows that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. *Mitchell*, 132 Idaho at 277, 971 P.2d at 730.

As a general matter, this Court will not attempt to second-guess counsel's strategic and tactical choices. *State v. Elison*, 135 Idaho 546, 551, 21 P.3d 483, 488 (2001). This rule does not apply, however, to counsel's decisions that are the result of inadequate preparation, ignorance of the relevant law, or other shortcomings capable of objective evaluation. *Id*.

In this case, it is undisputed that the wall of the jail itself was not damaged. Order Dismissing Post Conviction Petition, p.3. R. 107. As the district court found, "[t]here was no evidence presented at trial that the wall of the jail cell itself was damaged. Rather, the phone was removed from the wall and wires for the phone were sticking out of the wall." *Id.* At the evidentiary hearing, the district court found that:

Baxter presented evidence from another FSH employee who did not testify at trial. This employee confirmed that the phone in question was owned by FSH not the jail, that the phone was destroyed and that the Twin Falls Jail was billed \$325.67 for the cost of replacing the telephone and for the necessary labor to install the new phone. This evidence of ownership of the phone had not been presented at trial. The employee further testified that there was a sharing agreement between FSH and the jail for monies generated from the phone's usage by jail inmates. No testimony was presented concerning any agreement between FSH and the jail from repairing damaged phones.

Order Dismissing Post Conviction Petition, pp.3-4. R. 107-08.

Still, the district court held that Mr. Baxter's trial counsel was not ineffective because

according to its interpretation of Idaho Code § 18-7018, a "person is guilty of the felony of injury to jail if he or she injures any *part of a* public jail where that portion of the damaged property is integral to the operation of the jail." Order Dismissing Post Conviction Petition, p.7. (Emphasis in original.) R. 111. The district court determined the phone in this case satisfied its newly created *integral part of the jail* requirement. *Id.* Accordingly, the district court concluded trial counsel's performance was not deficient for failing to argue that the jail was not actually injured. The district court's analysis and conclusion are incorrect.

During the first session of the Idaho territorial legislature, the original injuring jails statute was enacted, proscribing that:

If any person shall, willfully and intentionally, break down, pull down or otherwise destroy, injure, in whole or in part, any public jail or other place of confinement, every person so offending shall, on conviction, be fined in any sum not exceeding ten thousand dollars, nor less than the value of the said jail or other place of confinement so destroyed or of such injury as may have been done thereto by such unlawful act, and be imprisoned in the territorial prison for any term not exceeding five years, nor less than one year.

Cr. and P. 1864, § 147. Though no legislative history remains from this legislative session, a plain and ordinary reading of the statute conveys the intent behind the new law – that damage done to the structure of any public jail is a serious crime. Surely in 1864 legislators did not envision this statute encompassing damage to a telephone let alone a telephone not owned by the public jail.<sup>2</sup>

This statute remained essentially unchanged until 1932 when it was amended and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "The telephone was invented in March of 1876. The famous incident in which Alexander Graham Bell spilled acid on himself and called out to his assistant, Watson, not realizing his voice was being carried over the telephone was on March 10." At http://wiki.answers.com/Q/When\_was\_the\_telephone\_invented (last visited Oct. 23, 2009).

#### recodified as Section 17-4312:

Every person who wilfully and intentionally breaks down, pulls down or otherwise destroys or injures any public jail or other place of confinement, is punishable by fine not exceeding \$10,000, and by imprisonment in the state prison not exceeding five years.

Besides recodification in 1972 to its present section (I.C. § 18-7018), the injuring jails statute has remained the same in language since 1932 and in intent since 1864.

Furthermore, the reported cases involving convictions under Idaho's injuring jails statute concern damage done to the structure of the jail itself. *See State v. Yancey*, 47 Idaho 1, 272 P. 495, (1928) (metal ceiling pried down in successful escape attempt); *State v. Wilson*, 51 Idaho 659, 9 P.2d 487 (1932) (cutting hole in holding tank and cutting through two iron bars in unsuccessful escape attempt); *State v. Ash*, 94 Idaho 542, 493 P.2d 701 (1971) (broken window). Interestingly, in *State v. Ash*, the appellant requested a rehearing by the Supreme Court for clarification of what constitutes a jail. In denying the appellant's request for rehearing the Supreme Court stated:

When we used the term "jail" in the opinion, we used the term in its generally accepted meaning: "A building designated by law, or regularly used for the confinement of persons held in lawful custody." Black's Law Dictionary, rev. 4<sup>th</sup> ed. 1968, p. 968. A jail is more than a row of cells standing alone; in addition to cells, a complete public jail must, of necessity, also have hallways, access routes to the cells, a roof, walls, windows, and doors.

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