UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-15-2009

Baxter v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 36299

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

ARGUMENT

1.

Baxter Has Failed To Establish Reversible Error In The Summary Dismissal Of His Claim, Challenging The Constitutionality Of The Charging Statute, On Grounds Different Than Those Asserted By The State In Its Motion And Adopted By The Court In Its Notice Of Intent To Dismiss

A. Introduction

In his *pro* se brief in support of petition for post conviction relief, Baxter asserted as his second claim for relief that the injury to jails statute was unconstitutional. (R., p. 25 ("Is the statute the petitioner was convicted under Unconstitutional?").) In the state's motion for summary disposition, it combined the constitutional claim with Baxter's claim of a jurisdictional defect and requested the court summarily dismiss such allegations because "[t]he defendant merely asserts his allegations in a conclusory fashion. The defendant has failed to sustain his burden of providing affidavits, records, or other evidence supporting these allegations." (R., p. 77.)

The district court then issued a notice of intent to dismiss Baxter's postconviction relief petition after "adopt[ing] the State's briefing as it Findings and Conclusions in this case" and concluding that Baxter failed to state any genuine issues of material fact, thereby failing to allege any grounds for post-conviction relief. (R., p. 90.)

Counsel for Baxter filed a response to the district court's notice of intent to dismiss. (R., pp. 93-97.) This response addressed a majority of the issues listed in the state's motion for summary disposition, but failed to respond to the

proposed basis for dismissal of his claim that the statute was unconstitutional.

(R., pp. 95-96.)

The district court thereafter dismissed the majority of the claims in Baxter's petition, including his claim that the statute was unconstitutional, ruling:

Plaintiff's claims for relief relating to the unconstitutionality of the statute are dismissed with prejudice for the reason that this issue should have been raised on direct appeal.

(R., pp. 101-102.)

On appeal, Baxter contends that he is entitled to reinstatement of his claim challenging the constitutionality of the charging statute, not because the claim is meritorious, but solely because the district court *sua sponte* dismissed the claim without providing him the 20-day notice required by I.C. § 19-4906(b). (Appellant's brief, p. 7.) The state agrees with Baxter that the district court dismissed his claim on a basis not asserted by the state in it motion for summary disposition or adopted by the court in its notice of intent to dismiss. The state does not agree, however, that reversal of the district court's order and reinstatement of the claim is appropriate. Rather, any discrepancy between the proposed basis for dismissal and the ground ultimately relied upon by the district court in dismissing Baxter's post-conviction claim is harmless because the claim fails as a matter of law and there is no additional evidence Baxter could have presented in support of his claim to establish he was entitled to relief.

B. Standard Of Review

On appeal from summary dismissal of a post-conviction petition, the appellate court reviews the record to determine if a genuine issue of material fact

exists, which, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the requested relief. <u>Matthews v. State</u>, 122 Idaho 801, 807, 839 P.2d 1215, 1221 (1992); <u>Aeschliman v. State</u>, 132 Idaho 397, 403, 973 P.2d 749, 755 (Ct. App. 1999). Appellate courts freely review whether a genuine issue of material fact exists. <u>Edwards v. Conchemco, Inc.</u>, 111 Idaho 851, 852, 727 P.2d 1279, 1280 (Ct. App. 1986).

C. <u>A Review Of The Record Shows That Any Lack Of Notice For The</u> <u>Specific Basis Upon Which The Court Dismissed Baxter's Claim That The</u> <u>Injury To Jails Statute Was Unconstitutional Was At Worst Harmless Error</u>

Idaho Code § 19-4906 provides for the summary disposition of an application for post-conviction relief upon motion by a party or on the court's own initiative. Follinus v. State, 127 Idaho 897, 899, 908 P.2d 590, 592 (Ct. App. "When the court considering the petition for post-conviction relief is 1995). contemplating dismissal sua sponte, it must notify the parties of its intention to dismiss and must provide its reasons for the potential dismissal." Banks v. State. 123 Idaho 953, 954, 855 P.2d 38, 39 (1993) (citations omitted). When the state files a motion for summary dismissal, setting forth adequate notice of the grounds for dismissal, and the court grants the state's motion for the reasons urged by the state, a post-conviction petitioner receives adequate notice of the grounds for dismissal. Baruth v. Gardner, 110 Idaho 156, 159, 715 P.2d 369, 372 (Ct. App. 1986). The district court cannot, however, "dismiss a claim on a ground not asserted by the state in its motion unless the court gives the twenty-day notice required by Section 19-4906(b)." DeRushé v. State, 146 Idaho 599, 602, 200 P.3d 1148, 1151 (2009) (citing Saykhamchone v. State, 127 Idaho 319, 322, 900

P.2d 795, 798 (1995)). The purpose of the 20-day notice requirement of I.C. § 19-4906(b) is to give the petitioner the opportunity to provide further legal authority or evidence to establish a genuine issue of material fact. <u>Fetterly v.</u> <u>State</u>, 121 Idaho 417, 418, 825 P.2d 1073, 1074 (1991); <u>State v. Christensen</u>, 102 Idaho 487, 489, 632 P.2d 676, 678 (1981); <u>Martinez v. State</u>, 126 Idaho 813, 818, 892 P.2d 488, 493 (Ct. App. 1995).

The district court dismissed Baxter's constitutional claim on a basis other than that proposed by the state and adopted by the court in its notice of intent to dismiss without providing the requisite 20-day notice. Any error in the lack of notice is harmless, however, because Baxter's constitutionality claim ultimately fails as a matter of law, and no legal authority or evidence Baxter could have presented would have overcome summary dismissal of his claim. <u>See</u> I.R.C.P. 61. ("The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties."); <u>Gomez v. State</u>, 120 Idaho 632, 634, 818 P.2d 336 (Ct. App. 1991) (applying harmless error analysis in post-conviction case).

The meaning and effect of a statute, including the statute's constitutionality, is a question of law, <u>State v. Hart</u>, 135 Idaho 827, 829, 25 P.3d 850, 852 (2001). Baxter argued in his brief in support of his petition for post-conviction relief that the injury to jails statute was vague, alleging that it was "to [sic] broad" and that "[t]he state cannot be trusted to decide who gets charged [sic] and who does not." (R., p. 25.) Baxter's claim is meritless.

7

į.

In determining whether a statute, such as I.C. § 18-7018 is void for vagueness, the court must consider (1) whether the statute "gives notice to those who are subject to it," and (2) whether the statute "contains guidelines and imposes sufficient discretion on those who must enforce the ordinance." <u>State v.</u> <u>Hellickson</u>, 135 Idaho 742, 745, 24 P.3d 59, 62 (2001) (citations omitted). "For a facial vagueness challenge to be successful, the complainant must demonstrate that the law is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. <u>State v. Casano</u>, 140 Idaho 461, 464, 95 P.3d 79, 82 (2004). The starting place in determining if a statute is or is not unconstitutionally vague is to look at the defendant's conduct in question.

Because a defendant 'who engages in some conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others ... [a] court should therefore examine the complainant's conduct before analyzing other hypothetical applications of the law.' The reason for the suggested analytical starting point is readily apparent, for if a statute is not unconstitutionally vague as applied to the defendant's conduct, it necessarily is not unconstitutional on its face.

<u>State v. Laramore</u>, 145 Idaho 428, 431, 179 P.3d 1084, 1087 (Ct. App. 2007) (<u>quoting Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc.</u>, 455 U.S. 489, 495, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 1191, 71 L.Ed.2d 362, 369 (1982)). Because Baxter's claim is a legal claim involving a determination of whether the statute clearly applied to his conduct, Baxter has not been prejudiced by the court's failure to grant additional time to investigate or submit additional evidence.

I.C. § 18-7018 provides that

[e]very person who wilfully and intentionally breaks down, pulls down or otherwise destroys or injures any public jail or other place of confinement, is punishable by fine not exceeding \$10,000, and by imprisonment in the state prison not exceeding five years.

The plain language of the statute is clear and provides sufficient notice to law enforcement that if someone commits a wilful and intentional act of causing damage to a jail, they can be held accountable through this statute. Baxter himself admits to the wilful and intentional act of causing damage to the phone located on the wall in the jail.¹ (Tr., p. 13, Ls. 19-24.) There is sufficient notice in the statute itself to provide guidance to law enforcement regarding what is a chargeable offense under the statute.

Baxter's claim that the injury to jails statute is unconstitutional fails as a matter of law. Any error by the district court in dismissing the claim for a reason other than that proposed by the state and adopted by the court in its notice of intent to dismiss was harmless because there was nothing Baxter could have provided to the court in the form of affidavits, records, or other evidence that would have had any effect on the ultimate legal question of the constitutionality of the statute. As such, the order of the district court summarily dismissing Baxter's post-conviction claim challenging the constitutionality of the injury to jails statute should be affirmed.

¹ Baxter's examples in support of his position that the statute is unconstitutional ("If a man pukes o [sic] the floor, he could technically be charged with a felony. If he wears paint off the table sitting in the same spot for an extended period of time. If he tears his jump suit, wears out his underwear, soils his sheets due to sickness, or unwitingly [sic] does any mark on any wall in complete ignorance of the scuff mark he made, he could be charged with a felony." (R., p. 25)) are not only comprised of unintentional or involuntary behavior, but are irrelevant to the ultimate inquiry since the statute has been shown to be valid as applied to his own conduct.

II. <u>The District Court Correctly Concluded Baxter Failed To Establish Ineffective</u> <u>Assistance Of Either Trial Or Appellate Counsel</u>

A. Introduction

Baxter contends the district court erred in denying his petition for postconviction relief because, he argues, he established at the evidentiary hearing that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and argue that the phone he damaged in the jail was in fact not owned by the jail itself. (Appellant's brief, pp. 7-8.) Furthermore, Baxter asserts the district court erred in determining that appellate counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise an insufficiency of the evidence claim on direct appeal. Baxter's claims fail. The district court correctly concluded Baxter is not entitled to post-conviction relief on the issue of ineffective assistance of trial or appellate counsel.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

A petitioner seeking post-conviction relief has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, the allegations upon which his claim is based. <u>Estes v. State</u>, 111 Idaho 430, 436, 725 P.2d 135, 141 (1986); <u>Clark v. State</u>, 92 Idaho 827, 830, 452 P.2d 54, 57 (1969); I.C.R. 57(c). Where the district court conducts a hearing and enters findings of fact and conclusions of law, an appellate court will disturb the findings of fact only if they are clearly erroneous, but will freely review the conclusions of law drawn by the district court from those facts. <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 132 Idaho 274, 276-77, 971 P.2d 727, 729-730 (1998); Gabourie v. State, 125 Idaho 254, 869 P.2d 571 (Ct. App. 1994).

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents mixed questions of law and fact. A petitioner for post-conviction relief has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, the allegations on which his claim is based. I.C.R. 57(c); <u>Estes v. State</u>, 111 Idaho 430, 436, 725 P.2d 135, 141 (1986). A trial court's decision that the petitioner has not met his burden of proof is entitled to great weight. <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 117 Idaho 939, 940, 792 P.2d 964, 965 (Ct. App. 1990). Furthermore, the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to the testimony are matters within the discretion of the trial court. <u>Rueth v.</u> <u>State</u>, 103 Idaho 74, 644 P.2d 1333 (1982).

C. <u>Standards Governing Claims Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel</u>

It is well-settled that in order to establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a petitioner must provide admissible evidence that his counsel's performance was deficient and that the alleged deficiency resulted in prejudice. <u>Strickland v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); <u>Richman v. State</u>, 138 Idaho 190, 192, 59 P.3d 995, 997 (Ct. App. 2002) ("To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant must show that the attorney's performance was deficient, and that the defendant was prejudiced by the deficiency." (citations omitted)). To establish deficient performance, the petitioner must demonstrate counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 110 Idaho 631, 634, 718 P.2d 283, 286 (1986), and overcome the "strong presumption that counsel's performance was within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." <u>Davis v. State</u>, 116 Idaho 401, 406, 775 P.2d 1243, 1248 (Ct. App. 1989).

A reviewing court evaluates counsel's performance at the time of the alleged error, not in hindsight, and presumes "trial counsel was competent and that trial tactics were based on sound legal strategy." State v. Porter, 130 Idaho 772, 791-92, 948 P.2d 127, 146-47 (1997). Trial counsel's strategic and tactical decisions will not be second-quessed on review or serve as a basis for postconviction relief under a claim of ineffective counsel unless the UPCPA petitioner has shown that the decision resulted from inadequate preparation, ignorance of the relevant law, or other shortcomings capable of objective review. Giles v. State, 125 Idaho 921, 924, 877 P.2d 365, 368 (1994); Cunningham v. State, 117 Idaho 428, 430-31, 788 P.2d 243, 245-46 (Ct. App. 1990). "Trial counsel's decision of which witnesses to call is encompassed in that aspect of trial counsel's role denominated 'trial tactics' or 'strategic choices." Campbell v. State, 130 Idaho 546, 548, 944 P.2d 143, 145 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing State v. Larkin, 102 Idaho 231, 234, 628 P.2d 1065, 1068 (1981)). "It is not enough for an applicant to show that his counsel's performance might have been better and might have contributed to the conviction. Rather, the applicant must show actual unreasonable performance by trial counsel and actual prejudice." Milburn v. State, 135 Idaho 701, 706, 23 P.3d 775, 780 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing Estes v. State, 111 Idaho 430, 434, 725 P.2d 135, 139 (1986)). "The constitutional requirement for effective assistance of counsel is not the key to the prison for a defendant who can dredge up a long series of examples of how the case might have been tried better." Ivey v. State, 123 Idaho 77, 80, 844 P.2d 706, 709 (1992).

To establish prejudice, the petitioner must show a reasonable probability that, but for trial counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. <u>Aragon v. State</u>, 114 Idaho 758, 761, 760 P.2d 1174, 1177 (1988); <u>Cowger v. State</u>, 132 Idaho 681, 685, 978 P.2d 241, 244 (Ct. App. 1999); <u>Roman v. State</u>, 125 Idaho 644, 649, 873 P.2d 898, 903 (Ct. App. 1994).

The foregoing standards also apply to claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. <u>Evitts v. Lucey</u>, 469 U.S. 387 (1985); <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 132 Idaho 274, 276, 971 P.2d 727, 730 (1998). The relevant inquiry on the prejudice prong is whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, Baxter would have prevailed on appeal. <u>Smith v. Robbins</u>, 528 U.S. 259, 285 (2000).

D. <u>The District Court Correctly Applied The Law To The Facts When It</u> <u>Dismissed Baxter's Petition After An Evidentiary Hearing</u>

Baxter asserts the district court erred in denying post-conviction relief because, he argues,

trial counsel's level of competence and advocacy fell below the constitutionally acceptable threshold when he failed to argue that Mr. Baxter did not injure a public jail.

The deficiency of trial counsel resulted in Mr. Baxter being convicted of a crime he did not commit while also being found to be a persistent violator. The prejudice is therefore self-evident.

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